TRANSNATIONAL ORGANIZED CRIME AND THE PACIFIC ISLANDS SERIES



.

A GROMBED SPACE EODEIGNI OPCANIZED

T

FOREIGN ORGANIZED CRIME GROUPS IN THE PACIFIC ISLANDS

Virginia Comolli | Martin Thorley

MAY 2024

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to thank the many Pacific islanders, as well as foreign law enforcement, government officials, non-governmental and multilateral organizations, journalists, academics and analysts who, by sharing their knowledge, insights and contacts, either in person or online, have informed this report and helped review its content.

The authors would also like to thank Mark Shaw, Louise Taylor and Prem Mahadevan at the Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime (GI-TOC) for their feedback, Brett Peppler and Dr Danielle Watson, who acted as external reviewers, as well as the GI-TOC's Organized Crime Index and Publications teams.

This report was funded by a grant from the United States Department of State as part of the preparation for the Global Organized Crime Index, the first tool of its kind designed to assess levels of organized crime and resilience to organized crime activity in all 193 United Nations member states. This report contributes to building the knowledge base regarding a critical component of the Index: criminal actors. The opinions, findings and conclusions herein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the US Department of State.



ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Virginia Comolli is the head of the GI-TOC's Pacific programme, a portfolio consisting of research, analysis and on-the-ground engagement with local and international stakeholders across Oceania. Before joining the GI-TOC, she spent 14 years with the International Institute for Strategic Studies, most recently as senior fellow and head of the Conflict, Security and Development programme.

Martin Thorley is a senior analyst at the GI-TOC, focusing on China-related projects. Prior to joining the GI-TOC, he worked as a Postdoctoral Research Fellow at the College of Social Science and International Studies, University of Exeter. His professional interests include China, international elite networks, kleptocracy and the relationship between capitalism and authoritarianism.

© 2024 Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime. All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from the Global Initiative.

Cover: Chinese suspects in telecom and online fraud cases are brought back to China from Fiji, August 2017. © TPG/Getty Images

Please direct inquiries to: The Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime Avenue de France 23 Geneva, CH-1202 Switzerland www.globalinitiative.net

CONTENTS

Executive summary	2
Methodology	3
Introduction	4
Triads and Asian syndicates	
Mapping the convergence of business, criminal and political connections: the case of 'Broken Tooth' in Palau	7
Central and South American cartels	
Outlaw motorcycle gangs	
Criminal deportees	
Minor actors	
Conclusions	
Annex: Definitions of criminal actors	
Notes	



FROM VISION TO ACTION: A DECADE OF ANALYSIS, DISRUPTION AND RESILIENCE

The Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime was founded in 2013. Its vision was to mobilize a global strategic approach to tackling organized crime by strengthening political commitment to address the challenge, building the analytical evidence base on organized crime, disrupting criminal economies and developing networks of resilience in affected communities. Ten years on, the threat of organized crime is greater than ever before and it is critical that we continue to take action by building a coordinated global response to meet the challenge.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

acific island countries (PICs) and territories increasingly play host to transnational criminal activities, with direct and indirect implications for Pacific communities and beyond. Ignoring these issues in favour of other diplomatic priorities or economic agendas risks exacerbating local fragility and creating safe havens from which foreign criminals can operate unhindered.

The cocaine, synthetic drugs and heroin trades are what draws organized criminals to the Pacific (for the most part). Traditionally, the Pacific islands have been used as transit points for narcotics originating in Asia and Latin America and destined for high-value consumer markets in Australia and New Zealand. PICs, however, are now also developing their own domestic markets.

In terms of provenance, three groups stand out:

Triads and Asian syndicates: Compared to the other organized crime groups active in the Pacific, Asian syndicates have a wider portfolio of activities, which straddle the licit and illicit. In fact, alongside their engagement in drugs and human trafficking, cyber scams and various financial crimes, some Asian groups, and Chinese triads such as 14K in particular, enjoy connections with senior establishment figures, which they may be able to leverage for political influence.

Central and South American cartels: Mexican and Colombian groups are key actors in the drug trade, especially cocaine and methamphetamines. The Sinaloa cartel in Mexico appears to be the most prominent in the arena, even though it lacks any permanent bases in the Pacific islands. Trafficking methods include the use of planes, yachts, bodily concealment and dropping drugs in the ocean for later retrieval. These groups are also able to rely on North American connections to facilitate illicit flows.

Outlaw motorcycle gangs (OMCGs): OMCGs from Australia and New Zealand are involved in several criminal activities in the region, especially drug trafficking. They have established chapters in the Pacific islands and are able to exploit the presence of criminal deportees there to facilitate the trafficking of narcotics, as well as money laundering, extortion and other illicit activities.

Minor actors: The Pacific has also attracted a diverse range of criminal actors from eastern and south-eastern Europe, the Middle East and other regions. They have been involved in various criminal activities, such as ATM scams and drug shipments. Opportunists from different countries have also collaborated with established criminal groups in the region.

Methodology

There is little to no consolidated information on criminal actors across the Pacific, as this is an understudied area. This is partly the result of the limited number of prosecutions taking place in PICs. Filling this gap is crucial in order to develop a sounder understanding of criminal patterns in the region as well as to build the Global Organized Crime Index.

The information presented in this report is based on more than 100 in-person interviews conducted across the Pacific in 2023 as well as remote interviews with law enforcement, government officials, multilateral organizations, NGOs, journalists and academics. Due to the sensitivity of the issues discussed and the small and close-knit nature of most Pacific communities, the majority of those interviewed for this project have asked to remain anonymous.

In addition to the above, this research has also benefited from the data collection, analytical work and expert consultations that were conducted for the Global Organized Crime Index 2023 in the course of 2022–2023. The Index results show that foreign actors are the most influential type of criminal across the Pacific islands, as illustrated in the figure below, and as such warrant a dedicated study.

Country	Foreign actors	State-embedded actors	Criminal Private sector networks actors		Mafia-style groups	
Tonga	7	5.5	4.5	1.5	1	
Solomon Islands	6.5	7	4.5	6.5	1	
Papua New Guinea	6.5	8.5	8	6.5	1	
Fiji	5.5	3	5	5.5	1	
Federated States of Micronesia	5.5	2.5	4.5	1.5	1	
Vanuatu	4	3	1.5	1.5	1	
Palau	4	2	4	1.5	1	
Marshall Islands	3	3	2.5	2	1	
Kiribati	3	1.5	4	2	1	
Samoa	2.5	2.5	2.5	1	1	
Nauru	2.5	3.5	1.5	1	1	
Tuvalu	1.5	1.5	1	1.5	1	
Average	4.29	3.625	3.625	2.67	1	

FIGURE 1 Criminal actors' scores in Pacific island countries.

SOURCE: GI-TOC, Global Organized Crime Index 2023, https://ocindex.net

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
NON-EXISTENT TO LITTLE INFLUENCE			ERATE JENCE	SIGNIF INFLL		SEVE	ere influe	ENCE	

FIGURE 2 Scoring thresholds.

SOURCE: GI-TOC, Global Organized Crime Index 2023, https://ocindex.net

Lastly, and in addition to a standard review of the existing literature, this report has been informed by open-source intelligence using English and Mandarin sources.



espite their perceived isolation, PICs and territories are not immune to transnational organized crime. In fact, various well-established organized crime groups are active across the region, many of which are attracted by the prospect of high returns in the drug trade, among other illicit markets. Their activities have intensified over the last few decades (barring a lull during the COVID-19 pandemic) while becoming more diversified and sophisticated.

Despite significant differences in terms of nationalities and 'styles' – from Australian biker gangs to Asian syndicates – analysts have observed 'more and more strange combinations of actors' working together (e.g. joint ventures between Chinese and Middle Eastern groups),¹ adding to the complexity of the Pacific landscape and moving it away from the more traditional dynamic in which criminal actors work in isolation and compete with each other, often along ethnic lines.

This report provides an overview of the most active criminal groups in the Pacific, namely Asian syndicates, Central and South American cartels and OMCGs. Together with the other papers in this series,² it pieces together a truly multi-layered picture that partly reflects the ever more crowded market for *licit* activities in PICs. In fact, the Pacific islands have attracted a growing number of political and commercial partners. The inevitable competition between new entrants and those with long-standing ties has played out in the political, economic and security spheres. The most prominent example has been the growing geopolitical tensions between China and Western countries, with both sides seemingly racing to secure more trade and security agreements and closer diplomatic ties with Pacific leaders than the other, in order to consolidate and expand their areas of political and economic influence. These dynamics have direct and indirect implications for the development and implementation of anti-crime measures and are discussed in more detail in briefs 1 and 4 of this series.

Additionally, and perhaps more concerningly, in this competition for influence there is a risk that foreign criminal actors develop hybrid identities that span the criminal, business and political realms. The Palau case presented in the ensuing pages, for example, is a cautionary tale of the vulnerability of PICs to infiltration and foreign influence.

The blurring of the lines between crime, business and politics is even more evident when it comes to certain *legitimate* foreign business operators. Perhaps counterintuitively, in some Pacific islands, foreign companies – rather than criminal groups – are behind most of the illicit activities that take place. As such, fishing, mining and logging companies, as well as a whole host of other businesses, entrepreneurs and investors are the subject of a separate dedicated paper.³



FIGURE 3 Pacific island countries and territories.

TRIADS AND ASIAN SYNDICATES

hereas the cartels and biker gangs pose serious challenges, their primary (albeit not exclusive) focus on drug trafficking and their usually obvious criminal intent make their treatment slightly more straightforward from an analytical and, one might say, law enforcement perspective. This is certainly the case when compared to the Asian groups that have, in many ways, become the dominant players in the region. Indeed, the 'business portfolio' of Chinese organized crime is more diversified and, often, we are confronted with individuals wearing multiple hats in the criminal and legitimate business worlds, perhaps especially because of their high-level political connections and support. As such, it also becomes impossible to ignore that some of these criminals may have, or promote, agendas that influence the political scene in many Pacific countries. To better illustrate these rather intricate dynamics and networks, after an overview of Asian syndicates' activities, this section will delve into a case study of one of the most notable representatives of this breed of uber-connected criminal actors.

Asian organized crime in the Pacific has been linked to human trafficking, prostitution (including the running of brothels), illegal gambling, cyber scams, money laundering, fraud and drug trafficking.⁴ Examples across the region over the years range from the arrest of a Hong Kong man, alongside five mainland Chinese (and a Montenegrin) for the trafficking of 55 kilograms of cocaine in Papua New Guinea in 2018;⁵ the first ever human trafficking conviction in Tonga, in 2011, which, notably, involved a female Chinese brothel keeper trafficking Chinese women into the kingdom;⁶ the arrest of a Filipino man in Palau for methamphetamine trafficking in 2021;⁷ the 2004 trial of six Hong Kong Chinese for the manufacturing of the synthetic drug in Fiji;⁸ and the deportation of phone and online scammers from Fiji back to China in 2017.⁹

It is, however, the sophisticated operations of Chinese triads that raise the greatest concern. Through interviews in PICs, it was clear that most law enforcement (local and foreign) officials and journalists were convinced of the involvement of the triads in many crimes or suspected it was likely, but due to a lack of investigative resources it was impossible to confirm. The 14K triad is the best known and the only recurring name, while conversations in places such as Palau suggested the presence of one or possibly two other triad groups, as well as a degree of coordination between them, in activities such as drug trafficking, money laundering and online scams.



FIGURE 4 Organized crime in the region shows polycriminality tendencies.

Suspicions of triad involvement in the region are nothing new. One of the earliest incidents hinting at their presence was back in the early 2000s when a number of Chinese men were murdered in Suva, Fiji, in connection with a large amount of money destined to buy shark fins for export to Hong Kong.¹⁰ At present, their main activities appear to include drug trafficking, especially of methamphetamines and their chemical precursors, and the running of digital scams, which involve trafficking Asian nationals who are forced to engage in the scam operations as well as sexual exploitation.¹¹

Mapping the convergence of business, criminal and political connections: the case of 'Broken Tooth' in Palau

In 2018, a curious Chinese language article surfaced, reporting on a meeting that October between Wan Kuok-koi (尹國駒), also known as 'Broken Tooth', and the then Palauan president Thomas 'Tommy' Remengesau Jr. In a tone and register closely matching the official language employed by the Chinese Communist Party (CCP), the report declared that Palau will unconditionally support the establishment of a 'Hongmen' special economic zone, before referencing 'cross-strait reunification', the Belt and Road Initiative and 'the rejuvenation of the motherland'. The report also contained images taken at the event.¹²

Born into poverty in Macau in 1955, Wan endured a violent youth before rising to lead the Macau chapter of the 14K triad, the second-largest triad in Hong Kong with an estimated 20 000 members and 30 loosely affiliated subgroups.¹³ He made his fortune in Macau's corrupt casino industry but his criminal activities eventually caught up with him in 1998 when he was arrested and charged with loan sharking and money laundering for which he would go on to serve 14 years in prison.¹⁴



Wan Kuok-koi (left) meets with then Palauan president, Thomas Remengesau Jr., October 2018. Photo: Tianyu Internet, https://archive.ph/oEMNo

Wan appeared to return from prison a changed man, having morphed from well-known gangster into a patriotic businessman. His activities in this period included establishing so-called 'Hongmen' groups, alluding to a centuries-old Chinese secret society that has become synonymous with the triads. These included the World Hongmen History and Culture Association in Cambodia, the Hong Kong-based Dongmei Group and the Palau China Hung-Mun Cultural Association.

Later reports suggested that he was in fact still involved in illegal activities.¹⁵ In December 2020, he was sanctioned by the US Treasury for a raft of criminal activity including 'drug trafficking, illegal gambling, racketeering [and] human trafficking'.¹⁶ The sanctions explicitly mention his activities in Palau. Shortly afterwards, he was sought by Malaysian authorities for fraud.¹⁷ The vice president of Wan's Hongmen association in Malaysia, Nicky Liow Soon Hee (廖顺喜) also became a target for law enforcement. Liow was implicated in 'a string of e-commerce apps and cryptocurrency trading platforms under the name "Yunbao", but he was eventually arrested in April 2021, along with two of his brothers, for links to a Macau criminal syndicate and running a call centre-based investment scam operation'.¹⁸

At the same time the consequences of various criminal enterprises closed in on Wan, he received a special invitation from Beijing. Though Wan's 'Hongmen' activity appears to chime with some of the objectives of the Chinese state, there is little previous conclusive evidence of a direct link between the two. However, Wan received an invitation from the Hailian Working Committee (海联 工委) to accept a special award for his 'patriotic' work as a businessman. The networks associated with Hailian suggest proximity to the Chinese party-state itself.

Hailian, China and the Philippines

Hailian is led by Zheng Shuai (郑帅), who has been pictured with Wan as well as a range of relatively senior Chinese party-state officials, including from the realms of military and defence. Hailian also hosts representatives from various groups that are part of the united front system, a central element of the CCP's efforts to manage the interface between Party and non-Party elements, including by influencing foreign actors and institutions.¹⁹ Indeed, the report on Wan's award stated that the group sits within China's Ministry of Civil Affairs.²⁰

In terms of Hailian's positioning, it was reported that attendees at the Philippines meeting were urged to 'contribute to the great rejuvenation of the Chinese nation'. At that meeting, Zheng Shuai was seen sitting next to his official consultant at Hailian, Lu Bin (日彬).²¹ Lu Bin is a former officer of the People's Liberation Army National Defence University.²² Such a connection positions the group firmly within the party-state's official realm.

Where two worlds meet

In the opaque landscape that includes overseas criminality and Chinese officialdom, there is rarely any explicit evidence linking the two. For those familiar with China's political landscape, Wan's award constitutes an important piece of evidence where official and criminal world appear to intersect. The award and networks of those on each side should be considered both in terms of the wider picture and the direct role Wan is playing in Palau. Wan accepted the award in person in Beijing from a group that appears to be deeply enmeshed in China's official realm and its engagement overseas. Hailian's decision to make the award suggests indifference towards Wan's widely reported criminality and activity in the region and beyond.

Given Wan's ongoing criminality and in light of these apparent links to China's official realm, his activity in Palau takes on a different hue. Images from the report on the dinner attended by Wan and then president Remengesau show that the Palauan postmaster general, Timothy Sinsak, was also present. A report by investigative journalists in 2022 revealed that both Sinsak and the state governor of Airai, Tmewang Rengulbai, became directors of Wan's Hongmen association when it was first registered in 2019.²³ When we explore the formation of links between Wan and Palau's political elite further, the importance of a pre-existing Chinese network in Palau becomes evident.

Tian Hang and Wang Guodan, two Chinese businesspeople based in the country, reportedly played a significant role in smoothing Wan's access to Palauan elites. Tian is a hotelier who boasts an extensive network in the nation's top political circles, with professional connections to the minister for culture, tourism and development, Ngirai Tmetuchl, and Palau's president from 2009 to 2013, Johnson Toribiong.²⁴ Tian heads the Palau Overseas Chinese Federation and it was his deputy at that organization, Wang Guodan, who introduced Wan to Remengesau.²⁵ The 2022 investigative report mentions that both Tian and Wang were guests at an event in Beijing in 2019 commemorating 70 years of CCP rule. Invitation to such events again ties the network back to the party-state's official realm. Another attendee of the same event, for example, was Christine Lee, who would eventually be identified by the British security services as someone engaged in 'political interference activities' for the Chinese state.²⁶ Lee has denied these accusations.

Another member of the Chinese diaspora, Zhang Bauluo, appears to have played a role in Wan's positioning in Palau, though Zhang's links back to Beijing are far less clear than Tian and Wang's, if such a connection exists. While Zhang and Wan have appeared together at public events, their precise relationship remains uncertain. On the Palauan side, Zhang's links run deep. The businessman boasts a strong connection to Remengesau, who made Zhang a 'Representative for the Republic of Palau'.²⁷ Zhang's company reportedly supplied 125 mobile phones that were handed out as gifts at campaign events during Remengesau's successful 2016 re-election bid.²⁸ Meanwhile, a Chinese-language report from Singapore suggests these links extend to the familial, with the former president having become godfather to Zhang's son.²⁹

While some details around the Chinese network that facilitated Wan's entry into Palau remain unknown, their overarching role in opening doors for him is well-evidenced and appears to be a central feature of his engagement of the country. Considered in the context of Wan's own links to the party-state via Hailian and his acknowledged criminal ties, this episode hints at the lesser understood features of the wider landscape, particularly where the political and criminal intersect.

This case study is a useful illustration of the ways in which the lines that separate criminal, business and political interests can become blurred. It also underscores the complexity of identities and relationships and, as a result, the challenge of pursuing actors who engage in illicit activities while boasting networks that include politically linked actors. Whereas Broken Tooth has become the poster boy for these dynamics in Palau, the Pacific islands are all arguably vulnerable, to varying degrees, to similar infiltration at the hands of such highly connected criminal-business-political actors.



CENTRAL AND SOUTH AMERICAN CARTELS

he Pacific is an established thoroughfare, as well as an underwater and terrestrial storage area, for drugs trafficked from producers in Asia and the Americas to the lucrative consumer markets of Australia and New Zealand.³⁰ Since the mid-2010s, Australian authorities have seized ever higher volumes of cocaine transiting through the Pacific from the South American coast. Despite the global slowdown caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and related restrictions, consumption reached record highs in 2020, indicating the continued influx of narcotics.³¹ Furthermore, islands such as Tonga – long seen solely as transit points – are developing local consumer markets with all the attendant public health implications in the absence of rehabilitation facilities.³²

As alluded to, many different actors are involved in this trade and Latin American cartels are certainly among those who have exploited the surge in demand since the 2010s. According to interviews with law enforcement, the presence of Mexican cartels in the Pacific has grown over the past decade to cater to the demand for cocaine and methamphetamines in Australia. Smuggling methods used by the cartels include private and commercial planes, yachts, bodily concealment and commercial planes, as well as dropping drugs in the ocean for later recovery using GPS trackers. They also appear to prefer sending 'their own people' out to oversee the setting up of operations (rather than permanently relocating)³³ to places such as Fiji, Samoa and Tonga.³⁴ The Sinaloa cartel is also believed to use *pangas* (motorized dinghies) to traffic cocaine to the Cook Islands, and then onwards to Fiji.³⁵ On occasion, they will not yet have identified buyers in Australia when the drugs are already en route.³⁶

Everyone with whom the Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime (GI-TOC) has discussed this issue mentioned Sinaloa as the most active cartel. However, there appeared to be a consensus that at least two other Mexican groups were involved in the Pacific, although it is often difficult to differentiate them clearly. Indeed, some reports suggested the involvement of the Los Zetas cartel in Fiji in around 2015–2016.³⁷



Methamphetamine seized in Nadi, Fiji, January 2024. The Pacific islands act as transit and storage hubs for drugs en route to Australia and New Zealand. © Fiji Police Force

What was clear was that multiple actors were involved along the supply route, including in North America. The Canadian postal service was flagged as being exploited for drugs headed for the Pacific, especially methamphetamine precursors.³⁸ This should not be a surprise given the emergence of domestic labs in the likes of Fiji, the first of which was discovered in 2004.³⁹

Lastly, Colombians have also developed an interest in the Pacific. Connections first emerged in 2011 when the former speaker of the Tongan parliament was allegedly found to have been bribed to sponsor the entry of drug boss Obeil Antonio Zuluaga Gómez. Gómez aimed to establish a transit hub in the kingdom for Colombian cocaine destined for Australia, according to the Australian Federal Police.⁴⁰ Since then, cocaine packages have washed up on Tongan shores on a number of occasions, including in 2021 when a 14-kilogram package, believed to be from Colombia, was recovered in Vava'u.⁴¹



OUTLAW MOTORCYCLE GANGS

MCGs from Australia and New Zealand are involved in several criminal activities in the region and are also key actors in the drug trade. To better coordinate the trade, some OMCGs have established chapters in Pacific islands containing a mix of nationalities in their ranks. Some of the most notorious are the Fiji branch of the Rebels (where they are the main OMCG and have two chapters) and the Comancheros, both hailing from Australia, and New Zealand's Head Hunters, who are also present in the Cook Islands. The infamous Hells Angels also transit through Fiji in the course of their illicit activities.⁴² According to law enforcement in Auckland, New Zealand's Mongrel Mobs, who are linked to drugs and violent crime, also have footholds in Fiji, Hawaii and Solomon Islands.⁴³ There is also speculation that some OMCG members might be present in Vanuatu.⁴⁴

As mentioned, foreign groups of all stripes in the Pacific tend to collaborate, often establishing what, at the outset, might look like unlikely partnerships. One example involves Joshua Aziz Rahman, a New Zealand-based Canadian national of Fijian origin who was sentenced to 14 years imprisonment in Suva for the possession of nearly 40 kilograms of cocaine in 2021. Notably, his



Australian and New Zealand outlaw motorcycle gangs are key players in the Pacific island's criminal landscape. © Fairfax Media via Getty Images

father was serving a 20-year sentence in New Zealand for trafficking methamphetamines from Mexico to New Zealand for the Comancheros.⁴⁵ According to local sources in Fiji, they were both linked to the Sinaloa cartel.⁴⁶

There have also been cases involving other (non-biker) gangs. Most notably, members of New Zealand's King Cobra gang were arrested in 2021 for trafficking methamphetamines through Tonga, Malaysia and the US into Auckland's airport and seaports.⁴⁷

Criminal deportees

OMCGs overlap with another crucial social and security issue in the Pacific – criminal deportees. The latter are usually males, under the age of 35, from island countries and territories who have been deported from Australia, New Zealand or the US to their countries of origin, primarily Tonga, Samoa, Fiji, the Republic of the Marshall Islands and the Federated States of Micronesia. Many have been arrested and served time (four years on average) for drug offences and gang membership, including involvement with OMCGs (albeit not all deportees are/have been OMCG members). Deportation policies are a contentious and delicate issue, and the target of significant criticism because of the impact on receiving countries. While deportees are not technically *foreign* criminals, it has been estimated that, on average, these men have spent more than 12 years outside their countries of origin, with many having left as children.⁴⁸ As a result, there are significant barriers to integration. This, together with the lack of support available post-deportation, increases the likelihood of deportees falling back into a life of crime, with drug trafficking being the most common criminal activity in which they are involved. What is more, deportees can now benefit from the criminal contacts and know-how acquired abroad.

In conversations with the GI-TOC, Fijian law enforcement suggested that between two and three deportees were arriving each month, including young Fijian males from Australia and New Zealand, and Indo-Fijian males from the US. Some of these have been members of the Hells Angels and the Comancheros. A common practice involves OMCG representatives setting up legitimate businesses with local partners in Fiji, for example importing electrical goods from the US and Canada, while also dabbling in cocaine and methamphetamine smuggling on the side, and trying to 'recruit' sympathetic Immigration and Customs officers. As of April 2023, there were fewer than a dozen of these active cases.⁴⁹ Interestingly, other officials in Fiji indicated that deportees from other countries, namely Tonga and Samoa, regularly tried to make their way into Fiji. As such, executing removals and refusing entry have become routine activities for local authorities.



MINOR ACTORS

hereas the types and nationalities of criminals discussed above might be the most prevalent across PICs and territories, the Pacific region has also attracted a wider range of criminal actors from different parts of the world.

In the mid-2010s there were several cases involving Eastern and south-eastern European criminals who had travelled to Fiji to run ATM scams, including Bulgarian⁵⁰ and Cypriot⁵¹ nationals. At around the same time, Tonga also experienced similar issues. Although the nationalities of the scammers were not known, bank customers who had had their account details stolen found fraudulent transactions from Indonesia, France, the US, Greece and the Dominican Republic.⁵² According to New Zealand law enforcement, following a lull during the COVID-19 pandemic, European ATM fraudsters have now returned to the Pacific, especially from Bulgaria and Romania, targeting ATMs within tourist hotels.⁵³

Actors based in Eastern Europe and the Middle East are also linked to drug shipments transiting through the Pacific en route to Australia, but it is likely they would never actually set foot in PICs themselves.⁵⁴ Additionally, given that Mexican cartels have been sourcing some drugs precursors from the Middle East, it is easy to assume interactions with local criminal entities.⁵⁵ Given the fact that most of the senior figures in the Australian OMCG world live abroad in places such as Dubai, Turkey, Cyprus and Thailand, it is also plausible that they might facilitate such transnational connections along the narcotics supply chain.⁵⁶

Lastly, opportunists from various countries have been implicated in criminal activities, working in conjunction with established criminal groups. A grisly window into these kinds of partnerships was provided in 2012 when the body of a Slovakian national was discovered on a yacht in Tongan waters that carried cocaine from Ecuador.⁵⁷ A former Australian horse trainer is currently serving a 23-year sentence in Fiji for the smuggling of nearly 13 kilograms of powdered cocaine and tablets of cocaine and methamphetamines (worth more than AU\$20 million, approximately US\$14 million), and for carrying two illegal guns with ammunition in 2018. His luxury yacht had sailed from Florida via Colombia, Panama and French Polynesia on its way to Australia's Gold Coast. A search by Fijian customs at Denarau port resulted in his and his wife's arrest.⁵⁸ Since then, the practice appears to have grown; in 2022, a Parisian court opened the trial of 11 individuals from Spain, Italy, France, Portugal and Panama who had been caught trafficking over a tonne of cocaine through French Polynesia while working for a Colombian cartel.⁵⁹ The defendants, on board of three yachts, had sailed from Panama to Australia.⁶⁰

CONCLUSIONS

he variety of foreign criminal actors now active in the Pacific islands suggests that the region has graduated from a mere transit zone for illicit flows to a nexus of transnational criminal activities involving groups from different corners of the world. In many cases it has been possible to observe the evolution from illicit business transactions to the formation of 'criminal ecosystems' – in which a range of services are available to facilitate end-to-end criminality. The ecosystem model is more resilient to law enforcement action compared to the transactional model.

The intensity and sophistication of these actors is, unfortunately, only seldom counterbalanced by effective law enforcement. A limited capacity to respond is compounded by other factors. First is the topography of the region, which is characterized by a myriad of islands and vast exclusive economic zones – both of which are notoriously challenging for police. Second, the blending of political, diplomatic and economic competition playing out in the region might result in anti-crime efforts being deprioritized. This is particularly the case when such efforts may undermine relationships with certain domestic partners, for example in instances involving state-embedded criminal actors.

Another crucial aspect of foreign criminal involvement is the detrimental impact on island populations. The direct repercussions include the establishment of domestic drug consumption markets and islanders becoming the targets of organized crime either as victims or possible recruits (especially given the high levels of youth unemployment throughout the region). The more indirect impact, however, is arguably the most pernicious. By fuelling corruption, and by virtue of political support at the highest level in some cases, criminal actors undermine good governance and exacerbate the fragility of certain Pacific institutions, thereby risking a regional spiral into criminality. As such, even though organized crime trends in the Pacific islands might not be at the forefront of international

attention, ignoring these challenges risks severe local consequences as well as the creation of safe havens from which criminal actors can orchestrate operations targeting victims around the world.

Marshall Islands police prepare cocaine washed up on their shores for destruction, December 2020. © Giff Johnson/AFP via Getty Images





ANNEX

Definitions of criminal actors

The GI-TOC's Global Organized Crime Index adopts the following definitions of criminal actors:

Foreign actors	Refers to state and/or non-state criminal actors operating outside their home country. This can include not just foreign nationals, but also various diaspora groups that have created roots in the country over multiple generations.
State-embedded actors	Refers to criminal actors that are embedded in, and act from within, the state's apparatus.
Criminal networks	Refers to a loose network of criminal associates engaging in criminal activities. This also includes relatively small groups that do not control territory and are not widely known by a name or with a known leader. Criminal networks are involved in illicit trafficking of commodities but do not have territorial control or any of the other defining features of mafia-style groups. In essence, criminal networks and entrepreneurs are defined by their failure to meet the defining characteristics of mafia-style groups.
Private-sector actors	Refers to profit-seeking individuals and/or entities who own, manage and control a segment of the legal economy, free from state ownership or control, who collaborate and/or cooperate with criminal actors (either as the driving force, wilfully, through coercion or through neglect). This includes, but is not limited to, the laundering of illicit proceeds, acting as informants, and unethical legal representation.
Mafia-style groups	Refers to clearly defined, organized criminal groups. This typology also includes militia and guerrilla groups that are primarily funded by illicit activities. There are four defining features of a mafia-style group: a known name, a defined leadership, territorial control and identifiable membership.



NOTES

- 1 Interview with senior government analyst, Australia, April 2023.
- 2 See Virginia Comolli, Politics at play: Geopolitics and organized crime in the Pacific, GI-TOC, March 2024; and Virginia Comolli, An industry of crime: Foreign businesses and illicit practices in the Pacific, GI-TOC, April 2024, https://globalinitiative. net/analysis/transnational-organized-crime-andthe-pacific-islands/.
- 3 An overview of foreign business actors involved in criminality in PICs and territories is provided in Virginia Comolli, An industry of crime: Foreign businesses and illicit practices in the Pacific, GI-TOC, April 2024, https://globalinitiative.net/ analysis/transnational-organized-crime-and-thepacific-islands/.
- 4 GI-TOC, Global Organized Crime Index 2023, https://ocindex.net/.
- 5 Daniel Kumbon, Asian Triads undermining security, National, 5 January 2019, https://www.thenational.com.pg/asiantriads-undermining-security/.
- 6 Chinese trafficker jailed in Tonga, Radio New Zealand, 31 May 2011, https://www.rnz.co.nz/ international/pacific-news/197446/bjectetrafficker-jailed-in-tonga.
- 7 Leilani Reklai, Filipino national charged with drug trafficking, *Island Times*, 5 November 2021, https://islandtimes.org/filipino-national-chargedwith-drug-trafficking/.
- 8 Six in court over record Fiji drug haul, NZ Herald, 11 June 2004, https://www.nzherald. co.nz/nz/six-in-court-over-record-fiji-drughaul/SJ4ZLL5VN7B4HLZBJG6JPFN4GU/?c_ id=1&bjected=3572070.

- 9 Mass deportation of Chinese from Fiji in latest offshore crackdown by Beijing, *Guardian*, 8 August 2017, https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2017/aug/08/mass-deportation-ofchinese-from-fiji-in-latest-offshore-crackdownby-beijing.
- Triad suspicions in Fiji, Sydney Morning Herald,
 12 June 2004, https://www.smh.com.au/world/
 triad-suspicions-in-fiji-20040612-gdj3xo.html.
- 11 Interviews with anonymous sources, Palau, March 2023.
- 12 Tianyu Internet, 成了, 帛琉共和國成立HM洪門 經濟特區, 10 October 2018, https://archive.ph/ oEMNo.
- 13 Bertil Lintner, Why the US bit back at China's 'Broken Tooth', Asia Times, 12 December 2020, https://asiatimes.com/2020/12/why-the-us-bitback-at-chinas-broken-tooth/.
- Benjamin Carlson, Broken Tooth and New Macau, Foreign Policy, 28 January 2013, https://foreignpolicy.com/2013/01/28/brokentooth-and-new-macau/.
- 15 Philip Conneller, Triad Leader 'Broken Tooth' Wan Kuok Koi Sought in Malaysia for \$1.4 Million Fraud, Casino, 4 February 2021, https://www.casino.org/news/triad-leaderbroken-tooth-wan-kuok-koi-believed-to-behiding-in-malaysia-wanted-for-1-4-million-fraud/.
- 16 US Department of the Treasury, Treasury sanctions corrupt actors in Africa and Asia,
 9 December 2020, https://home.treasury.gov/ news/press-releases/sm1206.

- 17 Philip Conneller, Triad Leader 'Broken Tooth' Wan Kuok Koi Sought in Malaysia for \$1.4 Million Fraud, Casino, 4 February 2021, https://www. casino.org/news/triad-leader-broken-toothwan-kuok-koi-believed-to-be-hiding-in-malaysiawanted-for-1-4-million-fraud/.
- 18 Lindsey Kennedy and Nathan Paul Southern, Inside Southeast Asia's Casino Scam Archipelago, Diplomat, 2 August 2022, https://thediplomat. com/2022/08/inside-southeast-asias-casinoscam-archipelago/.
- 19 中华时报,海联工委菲律宾派驻机构正式成立为" 一带一路"重大项目保驾护航,8 February 2022, https://archive.ph/Vui3a.
- 20 树娃, 尹国驹转型成爱国商人, 获颁爱国人士 证书, 亲自率团赴京接受荣誉, 29 March 2021, https://archive.ph/7Eqfk.
- 21 中华时报,海联工委菲律宾派驻机构正式成立为" 一带一路"重大项目保驾护航,8 February 2022, https://archive.ph/Vui3a.
- 22 Ibid.
- 23 Bernadette Carreon, Aubrey Belford and Martin Young, Pacific Gambit: Inside the Chinese Communist Party and Triad Push into Palau, OCCRP, 12 December 2022, https://www.occrp.org/en/investigations/ pacific-gambit-inside-the-chinesecommunist-party-and-triad-push-into-palau.
- 24 Ibid.
- 25 Ibid.
- 26 中国新闻, 英国华人李贞驹:中国发展为华 侨华人带来尊严自信, 30 September 2019, https://archive.ph/4JDkA; Ben Quinn, Profile: Christine Lee, the woman at centre of MI5 security warning, *Guardian*, 13 January 2022, https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2022/ jan/13/profile-christine-lee-the-woman-atcentre-of-mi5-security-warning.
- 27 GT Group, Presidential Appointment of Dr Paul Zhang as Representative, Facebook post,
 8 July 2016, https://www.facebook.com/media/ set/?set=a.1617612924951298&type=3.
- 28 Bernadette Carreon, Aubrey Belford and Martin Young, Pacific Gambit: Inside the Chinese Communist Party and Triad Push into Palau, OCCRP, 12 December 2022, https://www.occrp.org/en/investigations/ pacific-gambit-inside-the-chinesecommunist-party-and-triad-push-into-palau.
- 29 新加坡眼, 开挂狮城少年: 帕劳总统干儿子搭档陈 洁仪饰演音乐剧, 30 July 2017, https://archive.ph/ RiACO.

- Sandhiya Gounder, Are we losing the battle:
 Fiji's efforts against illicit drugs, *Pacific Dynamics:* Journal of Interdisciplinary Research, 6, 2, 202–221.
- 31 Kate Lyons, The new drug highway: Pacific islands at centre of cocaine trafficking boom, *Guardian*, 23 June 2019, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/jun/24/the-new-drug-highway-pacific-islands-at-centre-of-cocaine-trafficking-boom; and Jose Sousa-Santos, Drug trafficking in the Pacific Islands: The impact of transnational crime, Lowy Institute, 16 February 2022, https://www.lowyinstitute.org/publications/drug-trafficking-pacific-islands-impact-transnational-crime.
- 32 Kate Lyons, The new drug highway: Pacific islands at centre of cocaine trafficking boom, *Guardian*, 23 June 2019, https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2019/jun/24/the-new-drug-highwaypacific-islands-at-centre-of-cocaine-traffickingboom; Vice, How Fiji Became a Cartel Paradise: The War on Drugs, YouTube video, 10 June 2022, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OaBFKrlyJVI.
- 33 Interview with New Zealand law enforcement, March 2023, online, and Fiji law enforcement, Fiji, April 2023.
- 34 Interview with organized crime analyst, March 2023, online.
- 35 Expert presentation, PRLEC Law Enforcement Conference, Fiji, August 2022.
- 36 Interview with foreign law enforcement, Vanuatu, April 2023.
- 37 Interview with law enforcement, Fiji, April 2023.
- 38 Interview with foreign law enforcement, Fiji, April 2023.
- 39 Shalveen Chand and Ashna Kumar, Meths Made In Suva, Sold In Cities, Fiji Sun, 21 May 2019, https://fijisun.com.fj/2019/05/21/meths-madein-suva-sold-in-cities/.
- 40 A cocaine-lined shipwreck and busting the lucrative drug route in the Pacific, 60 Minutes Australia , 28 June 2023 [video report], YouTube, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lgL5pHILyO4.
- 41 Colombian drug lord's capture a reminder of Tonga's cartel links, Asia Pacific Report,
 27 October 2021, https://asiapacificreport.
 nz/2021/10/27/colombian-drug-lords-capture-areminder-of-tongas-cartel-links/.
- 42 Interview with Fiji law enforcement, Fiji, April 2023.
- 43 Interview with New Zealand law enforcement, March 2023, online.

- 44 Interview with Port-Vila-based researcher, Vanuatu, April 2023.
- 45 Torika Tokalau, New Zealand wants extradition of Canadian drug smuggler Joshua Rahman from Fiji, Stuff, 21 April 2021, https://www. stuff.co.nz/national/crime/124874983/newzealand-wants-extradition-of-canadian-drugsmuggler-joshua-rahman-from-fiji; Fiji Financial Intelligence Unit, FIU Provides Financial Intelligence To Law Enforcement Agencies, Fiji Sun, 12 October 2021, https://fijisun. com.fj/2021/10/12/fiu-provides-financialintelligence-to-law-enforcement-agencies/.
- 46 Multiple interviews with Fiji law enforcement, Fiji, April 2023.
- 47 New Zealand Police, Operation Selena: 14 people charged today, 24 in total, following months-long investigation into drug smuggling at Auckland Airport and Ports of Auckland, Press Release, 8 December 2021, https://www.police.govt.nz/news/release/operation-selena-14-people-charged-today-24-total-following-months-long-investigation.
- 48 Jose Sousa-Santos, Drug trafficking in the Pacific Islands: The impact of transnational crime, Lowy Institute, 16 February 2022, https://www.lowyinstitute.org/publications/ drug-trafficking-pacific-islands-impacttransnational-crime.
- 49 Multiple interviews with Fiji law enforcement, Fiji, April 2023.
- 50 Charles Chambers, Bulgarian 3 jailed for ATM scam, Fiji Sun, 9 December 2017, https://fijisun.com.fj/2017/12/09/bulgarian-3-jailed-for-atm-scam/.
- 51 Rachel Nath, Suspected ATM scammers want bail money back, FBC News, 17 April 2019, https://www.fbcnews.com.fj/news/suspectedatm-scammers-want-bail-money-back/.
- 52 Banks warn Tongan public to be aware of ATM skimming fraud, Matangi Tonga, 23 March 2017,

https://matangitonga.to/2017/03/23/banks-warntongan-public-be-aware-atm-skimming-fraud.

- 53 Interview with New Zealand law enforcement, March 2023, online.
- 54 Interview with senior government analyst, Australia, April 2023.
- 55 Interview with law enforcement, Australia, April 2023.
- 56 Ellie Hardy, Australian drug kings have gone global, Unherd, 1 March 2023, https://unherd.com/2023/03/australiandrug-kings-have-gone-global/.
- 57 Tongan inquest into Slovakian man's death on cocaine yacht, Radio New Zealand, 30 January 2013, https://www.rnz.co.nz/ international/pacific-news/209899/ tongan-inquest-into-slovakian-man'sdeath-on-cocaine-yacht.
- 58 Lice Movono, Ex-Australian horse trainer and wife 'secretly involved in wicked, international drugs trade', Fiji court hears, ABC News, 30 January 2019, https://medium.com/@ licemovono/ex-australian-horse-trainer-andwife-secretly-involved-in-wicked-internationaldrugs-trade-9bec8c8fd9c0; Lice Movono, Former Australian horse trainer John Nikolic sentenced to 18 years in a Fiji jail, ABC News, 8 March 2019, https://www.abc.net.au/news/2019-03-08/johnnikolic-sentenced-to-18-years-of-jail/10882234.
- 59 Trial for cocaine haul in French Polynesia starts in Paris, Radio New Zealand, 25 October 2022, https://www.rnz.co.nz/international/pacificnews/477313/trial-for-cocaine-haul-in-frenchpolynesia-starts-in-paris.
- 60 Thomas Saintourens, Paris trial kicks off for 'pleasure cruisers' under the orders of Colombian narcos, *Le Monde*, 25 October 2022, https://www. lemonde.fr/en/international/article/2022/10/25/ the-trial-of-the-pleasure-cruisers-under-theorders-of-colombian-narcos_6001755_4.html.



ABOUT THE GLOBAL INITIATIVE

The Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime is a global network with over 600 Network Experts around the world. The Global Initiative provides a platform to promote greater debate and innovative approaches as the building blocks to an inclusive global strategy against organized crime.

www.globalinitiative.net